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This report contains brief summaries of federal animal protection statutes,

from the African Elephant Conservation Act to the Wild Free-Roaming Hor-

ses and Burros Act. While not including treaties, it does include statutes

enacted to implement treaties. It includes statutes concerning animals that

are not entirely, or not at all, animal protection statutes. For example, it

includes a statute authorizing the eradication of predators, because one of

the statute's purposes is to protect domestic and "game" animals; and it in-

cludes statutes to conserve fish, although their ultimate purpose may not be

for the fishes' benefit. It also includes statutes that allow the disabled to use

service animals, and even includes statutes aimed at acts of animal rights

advocates. Among recent statutes included in the report are the 1992 and

1994 amendments to the Marine Mammal Protection Act of 1972, section

404C of the Public Health Service Act, the 1994 amendments to the Twenty-

Eight Hour Law, and the Wild Bird Conservation Act of 1992.

AFRIcAN ELEPHANT CONSERVATION AcT, 16 U.S.C. §§ 4201-4245

This statute establishes an African Elephant Conservation Fund,
from which the Secretary of the Interior may provide financial assis-
tance "for approved projects for research, conservation, management,
or protection of African elephants." It requires the Secretary to estab-
lish a moratorium on the importation of raw and worked ivory from an
ivory producing country that does not meet specified criteria, including
being a party to the Convention on International Trade in Endangered
Species of Wild Fauna and Flora (CITES) and adhering to the CITES
Ivory Control System.

The Act imposes civil and criminal penalties on any person who,

among other things, imports raw ivory from any country other than an

ivory producing country, or from a country for which a moratorium is

in effect, or who exports raw ivory from the United States. A person

who furnishes information that leads to a civil penalty or a criminal

conviction under the Act may be rewarded up to one-half of any crimi-

nal or civil penalty or fine, or $25,000, whichever is less.

* Henry Cohen is a legislative attorney with the Congressional Research Service,

American Law Division, at the Library of Congress. He is also the book review editor for
The Federal Lawyer. This report was updated on October 24, 1994.
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ANIMAL LAW

AIRBORNE HUNTING ACT, 16 U.S.C. § 742j-1
This statute makes it a crime: (1) while in an aircraft, to shoot any

bird, fish, or other animal, or (2) to use an aircraft to harass any bird,
fish, or other animal. These prohibitions do not apply to persons em-
ployed by or licensed by a state or the federal government to adminis-
ter or protect "land, water, wildlife, domesticated animals, human life,
or crops."

ALASKA NATIONAL INTEREST LANDS CONSERVATION ACT, 16 U.S.C.
§§ 3201-3202

Sections 1313-1314 of this Act, authorize the Secretary of the Inte-
rior to designate zones within national preserves in Alaska "where and
when no hunting, fishing, trapping, or entry may be permitted," and
prohibit "the taking of fish and wildlife" in national parks or national
park system monuments in Alaska, except as specified in the Act.

Section 1005 of the Act, as amended in 1990, 16 U.S.C. § 3145,
provides that the Secretary of the Interior "shall work closely with the
State of Alaska and Native Village and Regional Corporations in eval-
uating the impact of oil and gas exploration, development, production,
and transportation and other human activities on the wildlife re-
sources of these lands, including impacts on the Arctic and Porcupine
caribou herds, polar bears, muskox, grizzly bear, wolf, wolverine, sea-
birds, shorebirds, and migratory waterfowl."

AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT, 42 U.S.C. §§ 12101-12213

This statute (together with the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, 29
U.S.C. §§ 791-794) prohibits discrimination against people with disa-
bilities in employment, public services, and public accommodations. 1

Discrimination includes refusing to make reasonable accommodations
for individuals with disabilities, and a reasonable accommodation gen-
erally includes permitting the use of service animals, such as seeing
eye dogs.2

ANIMAL DAMAGE CONTROL ACT, 7 U.S.C. §§ 426-426c

This statute directs the Secretary of Agriculture:
to conduct investigations, experiments, and tests as he may deem neces-
sary in order to determine, demonstrate, and promulgate the best methods
of eradication, suppression, or bringing under control on national forests
and other areas of the public domain as well as on State, Territory, or pri-
vately owned lands of mountain lions, wolves, bobcats, prairie dogs, go-
phers, ground squirrels, jack rabbits, and other animals injurious to

1 The Rehabilitation Act applies to federal executive branch agencies, federal con-
tractors, and federal programs receiving federal financial assistance. The ADA apples to
legislative branch agencies, the states, and the private sector.

2 See 28 C.F.R. § 36.302(c). See also, Fair Housing Act, infra.
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ANIMAL PROTECTION STATUTES

agriculture, horticulture, forestry, animal husbandry, wild game animals,
fur-bearing animals, and birds.

The statute was enacted in 1931. The functions of the Secretary of
Agriculture under it were transferred to the Secretary of Interior in
1939, and back to Agriculture in 1985. 3 In 1987, Public Law No. 100-
202, 101 Stat. 1329-331, added the following provision to the Act:

The Secretary of Agriculture is authorized, except for urban ro-
dent control, to conduct activities and enter into agreements with
States, local jurisdictions, individuals, and public and private agen-
cies, organizations, and institutions in the control of nuisance mam-
mals and birds and those mammal and bird species that are reservoirs
for zoonotic diseases, and to deposit any money collected under any
such agreement into the appropriation accounts that incur the costs to
be available immediately and to remain available until expended for
Animal Damage Control activities.

ANniAL ENTERPRISE PROTECTION ACT OF 1992, 18 U.S.C. § 43

This statute makes it a federal crime to intentionally cause "physi-
cal disruption to the functioning of an animal enterprise by intention-
ally stealing, damaging, or causing the loss of, any property (including
animals or records) used by the animal enterprise, and thereby cause[ I
economic damage exceeding $10,000 to that enterprise, or conspire[ I
to do so." It defines "animal enterprise" as:

(a) a commercial or academic enterprise that uses animals for food or fiber
production, agriculture, research, or testing;, (b) a zoo, aquarium, circus,
rodeo, or lawful competitive animal event; or (c) any fair or similar event
intended to advance agricultural arts and sciences.

ANIAL HIIEALTH AND DISEASE RESEARCH, 7 U.S.C. §§ 3191-3201

This statute is designed to promote "the improved health and pro-
ductivity of domestic livestock, poultry, aquatic animals, and other in-
come-producing animals which are essential to the Nation's food
supply... ."4 It was amended in 1990 to require the Secretary of Agri-
culture to commission the National Academy of Sciences "to conduct a
study of the delivery system utilized to provide farmers... and ranch-
ers with animal care and veterinary medical services, including animal

3 The transfer in 1985 did not explicitly appear in any federal statute; rather, Pub-
lic Law No. 99-190, § 101(a), incorporated H.R. Rep. No. 99-439, and Amendment No. 31
to H.R. Rep. No. 99-439 incorporated a Senate amendment that appears at 131 Cong.
Rec. 27449 (Oct. 15, 1985). These provisions are set forth in "Federal Laws Enacted in
1985 Concerning Animals" (Feb. 19, 1985), a CRS report by the present author. These
provisions were declared "effective as if enacted into law" by Public Law No. 100-202,
§ 106, 101 Stat. 1329-433 (1987). The 1985 transfer to the Department of Agriculture
was, according to the Washington Post (Jan. 2, 1986), "to the delight of western cattle-
men and sheep producers and the dismay of conservationists"; the issue is debated at
131 Cong. Rec. 27459 (Oct. 15, 1985).

4 7 U.S.C. § 3191.
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ANIMAL LAW

drugs." The study shall assess opportunities to, among other things,
"advance the well-being and treatment of farm animals."5

The statute also requires the Secretary to establish the Animal
Health Science Research Advisory Board, to expire September 30,
1995. The Committee is to advise the Secretary with respect to the
implementation of animal health and disease research programs, and
shall have twelve members, one of whom shall be a "person represent-
ing an organization concerned with the general protection and well-
being of animals."6

ANIMAL WELFARE ACT, 7 U.S.C. §§ 2131-2159

This statute authorizes the Secretary of Agriculture to "promul-
gate standards to govern the humane handling, care, treatment, and
transportation of animals by dealers, research facilities, and exhibi-
tors."7 Such standards must include requirements "for animal care,
treatment, and practices in experimental procedures to ensure that
animal pain and distress are minimized... ."8 The Act's definition of
"animal" makes the Act applicable to any warmblooded animal "the
Secretary may determine is being used, or is intended for use, for re-
search, testing, experimentation, or exhibition purposes, or as a pet;
but such term excludes horses not used for research purposes and
other farm animals . . . ."9 Nevertheless, the Secretary promulgated
regulations that exclude birds, and rats and mice bred for use in re-
search, from coverage under the Act.10 A federal court found this ex-
clusion to violate the Act,1 ' but the decision was overturned on appeal
on the ground that the plaintiffs lacked standing to bring the suit.12

The Act requires every research facility to establish an Institu-
tional Animal Committee of at least three members, at least one of
whom shall not be affiliated in any way with the facility and who is
intended to represent "general community interests in the proper care
and treatment of animals." The Committee's responsibilities include
reviewing practices involving pain to animals and filing a report with
the Secretary. 13

The Act also provides for the licensing of dealers and exhibitors 14

and prohibits research facilities from purchasing dogs or cats from un-
licensed dealers or exhibitors. 15 It defines "exhibitor" to include carni-
vals, circuses, and zoos, but to exclude retail pet stores, state and

5 7 U.S.C. § 3193.
6 7 U.s.c. § 3194.
7 7 U.S.C. § 2143(a)(1).
8 7 U.S.C. § 2143(a)(3)(A).
9 7 U.S.C. § 2132(g).

10 9 C.F.R. § 1.1.
11 Animal Legal Defense Fund v. Madigan, 781 F. Supp. 797 (D.D.C. 1992).
12 Animal Legal Defense Fund v. Espy, 23 F.3d 496 (D.C. Cir. 1994).
13 7 U.S.C. § 2143(b).
14 7 U.S.C. § 2133.
15 7 U.S.C. § 2137.
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country fairs, livestock shows, rodeos, and purebred dog and cat
shows.16 The Act prohibits "animal fighting ventures" involving ani-
mals moved in interstate or foreign commerce, or promoted by mail or
any interstate instrumentality. However, this prohibition does not ap-
ply to "fighting ventures involving live birds" that take place in a state
that allows them.17

The Act prohibits dealers and exhibitors from selling or otherwise
disposing of any dog or cat within five business days after they acquire
it, except that this requirement does not apply to operators of auction
sales.18 A 1990 amendment also requires public and private pounds
and shelters, and research facilities licensed by the Department of Ag-
riculture, before selling a dog or cat to a dealer, to keep it for at least
five days in order to enable its original owner to recover it.19 The 1990
amendment apparently does not prohibit a pound, shelter, or licensed
research facility from euthanizing an animal before five days are up,
as that would not be selling such animal to a dealer. It also apparently
does not prohibit a pound, shelter, or licensed research facility from
selling an animal directly to a laboratory before five days are up, as a
laboratory is not a "dealer" under the Act's definition.

Another 1990 amendment authorized the Attorney General to
seek, and federal courts to issue, injunctions against dealing in stolen
animals or placing the health of an animal in serious danger in viola-
tion of the Act.20

ANTARcTIc CONSERVATION ACT OF 1978, 16 U.S.C. §§ 2401-2412

This statute makes it unlawful for any United States citizen, un-
less authorized by the Director of the National Science Foundation, to
engage in commerce in any native animal or native bird taken in
Antarctica.

ANTARCTIC MARINE LIVING RESOURCES CONVENTION ACT OF 1984, 16
U.S.C. §§ 2431-2444

This statute implements the Convention on the Conservation of
Antarctic Marine Living Resources, and makes it unlawful to harvest,
or knowingly to engage in commerce in any Antarctic marine living
resource harvested in violation of the Convention.

ATLANTIc SALMON CONVENTION ACT OF 1982, 16 U.S.C. §§ 3601-3608

This statute limits salmon fishing pursuant to the Convention for
the Conservation of Salmon in the North Atlantic Ocean.

16 7 U.S.C. § 2132(h).

17 7 U.S.C. § 2156.
18 7 U.S.C. § 2135.

19 7 U.S.C. § 2158.
20 7 U.S.C. § 2159.
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ATLANTIC STRIPED BASS CONSERVATION ACT, 16 U.S.C. § 1851

This statute authorizes the Secretary of Commerce to declare a
moratorium on fishing for Atlantic striped bass within the coastal wa-
ters of any state that does not comply with the Interstate Fisheries
Management Plan for Striped Bass.

ATLANTIC TuNAs CONVENTION ACT OF 1975, 16 U.S.C. §§ 971-971i

This statute authorizes the Secretary of Commerce to promulgate
regulations to "limit the size of the fish and the quantity of the catch
which may be taken from each area . . . [and] limit or prohibit the
incidental catch of a regulated species . .. ."

BALD AND GOLDEN EAGLE PROTECTION ACT, 16 U.S.C. §§ 668-668d

This statute makes it a crime to possess, buy, sell, or transport
any bald or golden eagle, alive or dead, or any part, nest, or egg
thereof. The Secretary of the Interior may issue regulations authoriz-
ing exceptions "for the scientific or exhibition purposes of public muse-
ums, scientific societies, and zoological parks, or for the religious
purposes of Indian tribes, or... for the protection of wildlife or of agri-
cultural or other interests in any particular locality .... "

DEPARTMENT OF DEFENSE APPROPRIATIONS ACTS

Public Law No. 101-511, § 8019 (1990) provides:
None of the funds appropriated by this Act or hereafter shall be used to
purchase dogs or cats or otherwise fund the use of dogs or cats for the pur-
pose of training Department of Defense students or other personnel in sur-
gical or other medical treatment of wounds produced by any type of
weapon: Provided, That the standards of such training with respect to the
treatment of animals shall adhere to the Federal Animal Welfare Law and
to those prevailing in the civilian medical community.

This provision, without the words "or hereafter," had been in-
cluded in Department of Defense appropriations statutes since Public
Law No. 98-212, § 791 (1984). However, because of the words "or here-
after" in the language quoted above, this prohibition on the use of
funds continues to operate unless it is repealed.

Other Department of Defense appropriations statutes use the
phrase "this Act or any other Act" instead of "this Act or hereafter."
The Comptroller General has "held that the words 'or any other act' do
not indicate futurity, but merely extend the effect of the provisions to
other appropriations available in that fiscal year." 65 Comp. Gen. 588,
589 (1986). The following example of the use of this phrase in connec-
tion with the use of animals in research appeared in Public Law No.
103-139, § 8044 (1993):

None of the funds provided in this Act or any other Act shall be available to
conduct bone trauma research at any Army Research Laboratory until the
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Secretary of the Army certifies that the synthetic compound to be used in
the experiments is of such a type that its use will result in a significant
medical finding, the research has military application, the research will be
conducted in accordance with the standards set by an animal care and use
committee, and the research does not duplicate research already conducted
by a manufacturer or any other research organization.2 1

Finally, some limitations on the use of Department of Defense

funds for animal research apply only to a particular appropriations

statute. For example, Public Law No. 103-139 § 8043 (1993), provides:

None of the funds appropriated by this Act shall be available for payments
under the Department of Defense contract with the Louisiana State Uni-
versity Medical Center involving the use of cats for Brain Missile Wound
Research ....

DEPARTMENTS OF LABOR, HEALTH AND HuALAN SERVICES, AND

EDUCATION, AND RELATED AGENCIES APPROPRIATIONS ACT FOR THE

FIScAL YEAR ENDING SEPTEMBER 30, 1993

Public Law No. 102-394, § 213 (1992) provides:

No funds appropriated under this Act or subsequent Departments of Labor,
Health and Human Services, and Education, and Related Agencies Appro-
priations Acts shall be used by the National Institutes of Health, or any
other Federal agency, or recipient of Federal funds on any project that en-
tails the capture or procurement of chimpanzees obtained from the wild.
For purposes of this section, the term "recipient of Federal funds" includes
private citizens, corporations, or other research institutions located outside
the United States that are recipients of Federal funds.

This provision appeared, without the reference to subsequent acts,

in Public Law No.s 101-166, § 214 (1989), 101-517, § 211 (1990), and

102-170, § 213 (1991).

DINGELL-JOHNSON FISH RESTORATION ACT, 16 U.S.C. §§ 777-777k

This statute is also known as the "Federal Aid in Fish Restoration
Act" and the "Fish Restoration and Management Projects Act." It di-
rects the Secretary of the Interior "to cooperate with the States
through their respective State fish and game departments in fish res-
toration and management projects." It includes the New England Fish-

ery Resources Restoration Act of 1990, 16 U.S.C. § 777e-1.

DISPOSITION OF UNFIT HORSES AND MULES, 40 U.S.C. § 311b

This statute provides, in full:

Subject to applicable regulations under the Federal Property and Adminis-
trative Services Act of 1949, as amended, horses and mules belonging to
the United States which have become unfit for service may be destroyed or

21 The bone trauma research involves the use of dogs; see H.R. CONF. REP. No. 101-

345, 101st Cong., 1st Sess. 153 (1989).
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ANIMAL LAW

put out to pasture, either on the pastures belonging to the United States
Government or those belonging to financially sound and reputable humane
organizations whose facilities permit them to care for them during the re-
mainder of their natural life, at no cost to the Government.

DOLPHIN PROTECTION CONSUMER INFORMATION ACT, 16 U.S.C. § 1385

This statute makes it a violation of section 5 of the Federal Trade
Commission Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45,

for any producer, importer, exporter, distributor, or seller of any tuna prod-
uct that is exported from or offered for sale in the United States to include
on the label of that product the term "Dolphin Safe" or any other term or
symbol that falsely claims or suggests that the tuna contained in the prod-
uct was harvested using a method of fishing that is not harmful to dolphins
if the product contains-(A) tuna harvested on the high seas by a vessel
engaged in driftnet fishing; or (B) tuna harvested in the eastern tropical
Pacific Ocean by a vessel using purse seine nets which do not meet the
requirements for being considered dolphin safe under paragraph (2).

Violators are subject to a civil penalty of up to $100,000.

DRIFlNET IMPACT MONITORING, ASSESSMENT, AND CONTROL ACT OF
1987, 16 U.S.C § 1822

This statute finds that "the use of long plastic driftnets is a fishing
technique that may result in the entanglement and death of enormous
numbers of target and nontarget marine resources in the waters of the
North Pacific Ocean, including the Bering Sea." It therefore provides
that the Secretary of Commerce, through the Secretary of State, shall
negotiate with foreign governments to monitor driftnet fishing, and
shall evaluate the feasibility of various methods of reducing the num-
ber of driftnets discarded or lost at sea.

The Driftnet Act Amendments of 1990, 16 U.S.C. § 1826, incorpo-
rate and expand upon provisions of the Driftnet Impact Monitoring,
ASsessment, and Control Act of 1987.

EASTERN PACIFIC TUNA LICENSING ACT OF 1984, 16
U.S.C. §§ 972-972h

This statute makes it unlawful to fish for designated species of
tuna within the "Area Agreement" specified in the Act without a li-
cense, or in contravention of regulations promulgated by the Secretary
of Commerce.

ENDANGERED SPECIES ACT, 16 U.S.C. §§ 1531-1543

This statute authorizes the Secretary of the Interior (the Secre-
tary of Commerce in the case of marine mammals) to promulgate lists
of species which are endangered or threatened (defined as "likely to
become.., endangered") and to designate critical habitats of such spe-
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cies. Among other things, the Act prohibits any person or private or
governmental entity from importing, exporting, taking, possessing,
selling, or transporting any endangered species.22 It prohibits federal
agencies, unless granted an exemption, from taking action "likely to
jeopardize the continued existence of any endangered species or
threatened species or result in the destruction or adverse modification
of [critical] habitat of such species."23 The Act also requires the Secre-
tary to develop and implement recovery plans for the conservation and
survival of endangered and threatened species. 24

In 1988, Public Law No. 100-478 amended the Act to require the
Secretary to develop and implement recovery plans for the conserva-
tion and survival of endangered species and threatened species, and to
implement a system in cooperation with the states to monitor the sta-
tus of recovered species. It also directed the Secretary of Commerce to
contract for an independent review, by the National Academy of Sci-
ences, of scientific information pertaining to the conservation of sea
turtles.

EXPORT ADMINISTRATION A i:ENDmENTS ACT OF 1985, 46 U.S.C.
App. § 466c

This statute provides that "no horse may be exported by sea from
the United States, or any of its territories or possessions, unless such
horse is part of a consignment with respect to which a waiver has been
granted" by the Secretary of Commerce. Such waivers may be granted
only "if the Secretary of Commerce, in consultation with the Secretary
of Agriculture, determines that no horse in that consignment is being
exported for purposes of slaughter."

FAro HOUSING ACT, 42 U.S.C. § 3604

This statute, as interpreted by the Department of Housing and
Urban Development (HUD), requires that all public and private hous-
ing (except as exempted in 42 U.S.C. § 3603(b) and § 3607) allow see-
ing eye dogs, even if they otherwise have a "no pets" policy. 25 The Act
prohibits discrimination "in the terms, conditions, or privileges of sale
or rental of a dwelling, or in the provision of services or facilities in
connection" with such a dwelling, because of race, color, religion, sex,
familial status (living with children), national origin, or handicap. One
form of discrimination based on handicap is "a refusal to make reason-
able accommodations in rules, policies, practices, or services, when
such accommodations may be necessary to afford [a handicapped] per-

22 16 U.S.C. § 1538.

23 16 U.S.C. § 1536(a)(2). No similar prohibition applies to entities other than fed-
eral agencies.

24 16 U.S.C. § 1533(f).
25 24 C.F.R. § 100.204.
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son equal opportunity to use and enjoy a dwelling." HUD has deter-
mined that allowing seeing eye dogs is a reasonable accommodation.

FEDERAL HAzARDous SUBSTANCES ACT, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1261-1275

The Consumer Product Safety Commission, which administers
this statute, adopted a policy statement on animal testing "intended to
minimize the number of animals tested and to reduce the pain associ-
ated with such tests." The statement notes "that neither the FHSA nor
the Commission's regulations require any firm to perform animal
tests," although it adds that "animal testing may be necessary in some
cases."

26

FISH AND WILDLIFE CONSERVATION ACT, 16 U.S.C. §§ 2901-2912

This statute authorizes the Secretary of the Interior to approve
state conservation plans for "nongame fish and wildlife," which are de-
fined as "wild vertebrate animals that are in an unconfined state and
that-(A) are not ordinarily taken for sport, fur, or food... ; (B) are not
listed as endangered species or threatened species ... and (C) are not
marine mammals ... ." A 1988 amendment (adding 16 U.S.C. § 2912)
requires the Secretary to undertake research and conservation activi-
ties concerning population trends of, and the effects of environmental
changes and human activities on, "migratory nongame birds."

FISH AND WILDLIFE COORDINATION ACT, 16 U.S.C. §§ 661-667d

This statute authorizes the Secretary of the Interior:

to provide assistance to, and cooperate with, Federal, State, and public or
private agencies and organizations in the development, protection, rearing,
and stocking of all species of wildlife, resources thereof, and their habitat,
and in controlling losses of the same from disease or other causes, in mini-
mizing damages from overabundant species, in providing public shooting
and fishing areas ....

FISHERY CONSERVATION AMENDMENTS OF 1990, PUBLIC LAw

No. 101-627

In addition to containing numerous amendments of the Magnuson
Fishery Conservation and Management Act and the Atlantic Tunas
Convention Act of 1975, this statute includes the Dolphin Protection
Consumer Information Act, summarized separately in this report.

26 49 Fed. Reg. 22522 (May 30, 1984).

[Vol. 1:153



ANIMAL PROTECTION STATUTES

FOOD, AGRICULTURE, CONSERVATION, AND TRADE AcT OF 1990, 7
U.S.C. § 5801(a)(5)

This statute funds "research designed to increase our knowledge
concerning agricultural production systems that" serve six specified
purposes, one of which is to "promote the well being of animals."

FUR SEAL ACT OF 1966, 16 U.S.C. §§ 1151-1175

This statute prohibits the "taking" (defined as to "harass, hunt,
capture, or kill") of fur seals in the North Pacific Ocean or on any lands
or waters under the jurisdiction of the United States, or engaging in
commerce in fur seal skins taken contrary to the Act or the Interim
Convention on the Conservation of North Pacific Fur Seals.

The Act contains an exception allowing taking by Indians, Aleuts,
and Eskimos who dwell on the coasts of the North Pacific Sea, and
authorizes the Secretary of Commerce to permit taking for "educa-
tional, scientific, or exhibition purposes." The Act also directs the Sec-
retary to administer the fur seal rookeries on the Pribilof Islands to
"ensure that activities on such Islands are consistent wvith the pur-
poses of conserving, managing, and protecting the North Pacific fur
seals and other wildlife ... ." The 1983 amendments to the Act re-
pealed the Protection of Sea Otters on the High Seas Act, formerly 16
U.S.C. §§ 1171-1172, as unnecessary because of the enactment of the
Marine Mammal Protection Act of 1972.

HORSE PROTECTION ACT, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1821-1831

This statute makes it a crime to exhibit, or transport for the pur-
pose of exhibition, any "sore" horse, which is a horse whose feet have
been injured in order to alter the horse's gait. The Secretary of Agricul-
ture is authorized to enforce the Act.

HUMANE SLAUGHTER ACT, 7 U.S.C. §§ 1901-1906

The central provision of this statute reads:

No method of slaughter or handling in connection with slaughtering shall
be deemed to comply with the public policy of the United States unless it is
humane. Either of the following two methods of slaughtering and handling
are hereby found to be humane:(a) in the case of cattle, calves, horses,
mules, sheep, swine, and other livestock, all animals are rendered insensi-
ble to pain by a single blow or gunshot or an electrical, chemical or other
means that is rapid and effective, before being shackled, hoisted, thrown,
cast, or cut; or (b) by slaughtering in accordance with the ritual require-
ments of the Jewish faith or any other religious faith that prescribes a
method of slaughter whereby the animal suffers loss of consciousness by
anemia of the brain caused by the simultaneous and instantaneous sever-
ance of the carotid arteries with a sharp instrument and handling in con-
nection with such slaughtering.
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The Humane Slaughter Act is enforced by the Secretary of Agri-
culture under provisions of the Federal Meat Inspection Act, 21 U.S.C.
§§ 603(b), 610(b), 620(a). It does not apply to chickens and other birds.

LACEY ACT, 18 U.S.C. §§ 41-47

This statute makes it a crime to:
(1) willfully disturb or kill any bird, fish, or wild animal, or take or destroy
the eggs or nest of any bird or fish, on any lands or waters set apart or
reserved under federal law as sanctuaries, refuges, or breeding grounds for
such birds, fish, or animals; (2) import species of wild animals, wild birds,
fish (including mollusks and crustacea), amphibians, reptiles, or the off-
spring or eggs or any of the foregoing which the Secretary of the Interior
prescribes by regulation to be injurious to human beings or to the interests
of agriculture, horticulture, forestry, or wildlife, except that the Secretary
may permit importation for zoological, education, medical, or scientific pur-
poses; (3) trap, capture, shoot, kill, possess, or detain a carrier pigeon
owned by the United States or bearing a band owned and issued by the
United States; or (4) use an aircraft or a motor vehicle to hunt, or to pollute
a watering hole of, any wild unbranded horse, mare, colt, or burro running
at large on any public land or ranges.

LACEY ACT AMENDMENTS OF 1981, 16 U.S.C. §§ 3371-3378

This statute, as amended in 1988, makes it unlawful to engage in
commerce in any fish or wildlife or plant taken, possessed, trans-
ported, or sold in violation of any treaty, or any federal or state law or
regulation, or any Indian tribal law.

MAGNUSON FISHERY CONSERVATION AND MANAGEMENT ACT, 16 U.S.C.
§§ 1801-1882

This statute provides that, except with respect to highly migratory
species of fish, "the United States claims, and will exercise in the man-
ner provided for in this Act, sovereign rights and exclusive fishery
management authority over all fish, and all Continental Shelf fishery
resources, within the exclusive economic zone."

MARINE MAMMAL PROTECTION ACT OF 1972, 16 U.S.C. §§ 1361-1407

This statute imposes a moratorium on the taking ("take" means
"harass, hunt, capture, or kill") and importation of all marine mam-
mals or their products, except that the Secretary of Commerce or Inte-
rior (depending on the type of animal) may grant permits to allow
taking and importation (1) for scientific research and public display,
(2) incidentally, in the course of commercial fishing, and (3) "in accord
with sound principles of resource protection and conservation." The
Act also makes it unlawful, except pursuant to a permit for scientific
research, to import a marine mammal that is (a) pregnant, (b) nursing
or less than eight months old, (c) taken from a species or population
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stock designated by the Secretary as depleted, or (d) taken in a manner
deemed inhumane by the Secretary.

The Act also establishes a Marine Mammal Commission whose

duties include undertaking studies and making recommendations as to
the protection and conservation of marine mammals. 27

An exception to the Act authorizes the Secretary of Defense to "au-
thorize the taking of not more than 25 marine mammals [not a mem-

ber of an endangered or threatened species] each year for national

defense purposes. Any such authorization may be made only with the

concurrence of the Secretary of Commerce after consultation with the
Marine Mammal Commission....-28

In 1988, Public Law No. 100-711 added "a number of provisions to

the Act for the specific purpose of reducing the morality [sic] of por-

poise in the course of fishing for yellowfin tuna in the [Eastern Tropi-
cal Pacific]."29

In 1992, Congress added two new laws to the Act. Public Law No.

102-523 added the International Dolphin Conservation Act of 1992 "to
prohibit certain tuna harvesting practices." Public Law No. 102-587,
Title Il, added the Marine Mammal Health and Stranding Response
Act, which directed the establishment of the Marine Mammal Health

and Stranding Response Program, the purpose of which is to collect

data on marine mammal health and to coordinate effective responses
to unusual mortality events by establishing a process in the Depart-
ment of Commerce.

The Marine Mammal Protection Act Amendments of 1994, Public
Law No. 103-238, was intended "to improve the program to reduce the

incidental taking of marine mammals during the course of commercial
fishing operations, and for other purposes . . . .30 The 1994 statute,
among other things, amended 16 U.S.C. § 1374 to authorize the Secre-

tary of Commerce to issue permits "for the importation of polar bear

parts (other than internal organs) taken in sport hunts in Canada,"
but required the Secretary to "undertake a scientific review of the im-

pact of [such] permits ... on the polar bear population stocks in Ca-
nada within 2 years .... "31

The 1994 statute also amended 16 U.S.C. § 1374 to provide that
the Secretary of Commerce may issue permits "to take or import a

marine mammal for the purpose of public display only to a person
which the Secretary determines . . . is registered or holds a license

issued under" the Animal Welfare Act. The effect of this provision ap-

parently is that the Department of Agriculture rather than the Na-

27 16 U.S.C. §§ 1401-1402.

28 10 U.S.C. § 7524.

29 H.R. REP. No. 100-970, 100th Cong., 2d Sess. 29 (1988); reprinted in 1988

U.S.C.C.A.N. 6170.
30 S. REP. No. 103-220, 103d Cong., 2d Sess. (1994).

31 108 Stat. 539 (1994).
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tional Marine Fisheries Service is authorized to regulate such marine
mammals once they are held in captivity.32

MARINE PLASTIC POLLUTION RESEARCH AND CONTROL ACT OF 1987,
PUBLIC LAw No. 100-220, TITLE II

This statute amended the Act to Prevent Pollution from Ships, 33
U.S.C. §§ 1901-1912, to, among other things, direct the Environmental
Protection Agency, in consultation with the Secretary of Commerce, to
study "improper disposal practices and associated specific plastic arti-
cles that occur in the environment with sufficient frequency to cause
death or injury to fish or wildlife."

MARINE PROTECTION, RESEARCH, AND SANCTUARIES ACT OF 1972, 16
U.S.C. §§ 1431-1444

This statute authorizes the Secretary of Commerce to designate
national marine sanctuaries.

MIGRATORY BIRD CONSERVATION ACT, 16 U.S.C. §§ 715-715s

This statute authorizes the Secretary of the Interior to purchase
or rent such areas as have been approved for purchase or rental by the
Migratory Bird Conservation Commission "which he determines to be
suitable for use as an inviolate sanctuary, or for any other manage-
ment purpose, for migratory birds."

NATIONAL FISH AND WILDLIFE FOUNDATION ESTABLISHMENT ACT, 16
U.S.C. §§ 3701-3709

This statute created the National Fish and Wildlife Foundation as
a nonprofit corporation to, among other things, "encourage, accept and
administer private gifts of property for the benefit of, or in connection
with, the activities and services of the United States Fish and Wildlife
Service .... "

NATIONAL HOUSING ACT, 12 U.S.C. § 1701r-1

A 1983 amendment to this statute prohibits owners or managers
of federally assisted rental housing for the elderly or handicapped to:
(1) as a condition of tenancy or otherwise, prohibit, or prevent tenants
from keeping "common household pets," or (2) restrict or discriminate
against any person in connection with admission to, or continued occu-
pancy of, such housing by reason of the presence of such pets. The Sec-
retary of Housing and Urban Development and the Secretary of

32 108 Stat. 537 (1994). This provision was opposed by animal rights advocates, who
took the position that "NMFS has years of experience in monitoring this Act, as well as
other marine mammal issues. In contrast, the USDA has lacked both the commitment
and ability to protect animals under the federal Animal Welfare Act." Animal Legal
Defense Fund, The Animals' Advocate (Spring 1994) at 2.
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Agriculture are authorized to issue regulations establishing guidelines
under which housing owners or managers may prescribe reasonable
rules for the keeping of pets, including restricting pet size and types of
pets. Owners or managers may require the removal of pets "duly deter-
mined" to constitute a nuisance or a threat to health or safety.

NATIONAL WILDLIFE REFUGE SYSTEM ADMINISTRATION AcT OF 1966,
16 U.S.C. §§ 668dd-668ee

This statute established the National Wildlife Refuge System,
which is administered by the Secretary of the Interior through the
United States Fish and Wildlife Service. The purpose of the System is
to "consolidat[e] the authorities relating to the various categories of
areas that are administered by the Secretary of the Interior for the
conservation of fish and wildlife .... "

NONINDIGENOUS AQUATIC NUISANCE PREVENTION AND CONTROL ACT

OF 1990, 16 U.S.C. §§ 4701-4751

This statute is intended "to prevent unintentional introduction
and dispersal of nonindigenous species into waters of the United
States through ballast water management and other requirements."
The statute finds that nonindigenous species, such as the zebra mus-
sel, if left uncontrolled, would disrupt the economy and "the diversity
and abundance of native fish."

NORTHERN PACIFIC HALiBuT ACT OF 1982, 16 U.S.C. §§ 773-773k

This statute authorizes the Secretary of Commerce to enforce the
Convention between the United States of America and Canada for the
preservation of the Halibut Fishery of the Northern Pacific Ocean and
Bering Sea.

OFFsHoRE SH~mnP FIsHERIES ACT OF 1973, 16 U.S.C.
§§ 1100b-llOOb-10

This statute limits fishing in "the area in which United States ves-
sels carry on a shrimp fishery in the vicinity of Brazil."

PACIFIC SALMON TREATY ACT OF 1985, 16 U.S.C. §§ 3631-3644

This statute implements a treaty between the United States and
Canada, the purposes of which were to "prevent overfishing and pro-
vide for optimum production" and to "provide for each Party to receive
benefits equivalent to the production of salmon originating in its wa-
ters." The Act repealed the Sockeye Salmon or Pink Salmon Fishing
Act of 1947, formerly 16 U.S.C. §§ 776-776f.
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PARTNERSHIPS FOR WILDLIFE ACT, 16 U.S.C. §§ 3741-3744

"The purposes of this title are to establish a partnership among
the United States Fish and Wildlife Service, designated State agen-
cies, and private organizations and individuals ... to carry out wildlife
conservation and appreciation projects . ..."33

PirTMAN-ROBERTSON WILDLIFE RESTORATION ACT, 16 U.S.C.
§§ 669-669i

Also known as the "Federal Aid in Wildlife Restoration Act," this
statute authorizes the Secretary of the Interior to cooperate with the
states, through their respective fish and game departments, in wildlife
restoration projects, which are defined as the "selection, restoration,
rehabilitation, and improvement of areas of land or water adaptable as
feeding, resting, or breeding places for wildlife."34

PUBLIC HEALTH SERVICE ACT, 42 U.S.C. §§ 281-300aaa-13

Section 404C 35 directs the Director of the National Institutes of
Health (NIH), by October 1, 1993, to prepare a plan for the NIH to
conduct or support research into methods of biomedical research and
experimentation that do not require the use of animals, that reduce
the number of animals used, that produce less pain and distress in
animals used, and that involve the use of marine life other than
marine mammals.

Section 49536 directs the Secretary of Health and Human Ser-
vices, acting through the Director of the NIH, to establish guidelines
for research facilities as to the proper care and treatment of animals,
including the appropriate use of tranquilizers, analgesics, and the like;
but such guidelines may not prescribe methods of research. Entities
that conduct biomedical and behavioral research with NIH funds must
establish animal care committees which must conduct reviews at least
semi-annually and report to the Director of NIH at least annually. If
the Director determines that an entity has not been following the
guidelines, he must give it an opportunity to take corrective action,
and, if it does not, can suspend or revoke its grant or contract.

Section 509C(a) 37 provides that the Administrator of the Alcohol,
Drug Abuse, and Mental Health Administration shall establish guide-
lines for the following:

(a) The proper care of animals to be used in research conducted by and
through agencies of the Administration. (b) The proper treatment of ani-

33 16 U.S.C. § 3742.
34 Compare with the Dingell-Johnson Fish Restoration Act.
35 42 U.S.C. § 283e.
36 42 U.S.C. § 289d.
37 42 U.S.C. § 290aa-10(a).
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mals while being used in research .... (c) The organization and operation of
animal care committee[s] [to assure compliance with the guidelinesl.as

RECREATIONAL HUNTING SAFETY AND PRESERVATION AcT OF 1994,
PUBLIC LAW No. 103-322, §§ 320801-320807

This statute makes it a violation, subject to a civil penalty of up to
$10,000, "intentionally to engage in any physical conduct that signifi-
cantly hinders a lawful hunt... on Federal lands." The conference
report states that, to be a violation, "the conduct must be intentional,
and must be done with the intention of significantly hindering a lawful
hunt."39

The conference report gives examples of violations of the statute,
including "using visual, aural, olfactory, or physical stimuli to affect
wildlife behavior."40 This suggests the possibility that a court could
construe mere words addressed to a hunter as "physical conduct," if
such words affected wildlife behavior (or a hunter's concentration) so
as significantly to hinder a hunt. This apparently would not violate the
First Amendment's guarantee of freedom of speech, provided that the
statute's civil penalty were imposed on the speaker for the effect of the
sound of his words and not for their content. The statute states that
"[tihe term 'conduct' does not include speech protected by the first arti-
cle of amendment to the Constitution" (the statute does not otherwise
define "conduct" or "physical conduct"), but this of course would go
without saying, as Congress cannot punish speech that is protected by
the First Amendment.

REHABILITATION ACT OF 1973: SEE AMERICANS WiTH DISABILITIES ACT

SALMON AND STEELHEAD CONSERVATION AND ENHANCEMENT ACT OF

1980, 16 U.S.C. §§ 3301-3345

This statute authorizes the establishment of a cooperative pro-
gram involving the United States, the States of Washington and Ore-
gon, and Indian Tribes, to "encourage stability in and promote the
economic well being" of commercial fishing through "coordinated re-
search, enhancement, and management of salmon and steelhead re-
sources and habitat."

38 Another section of the Act, enacted in 1985 and repealed in 1988, authorized the

Secretary to make grants to schools of veterinary medicine for 'the development of cur-
ricula for training in the care of animals used in research, the treatment of animals
while being used in research, and the development of alternatives to the use of animals
in research...." Pub. L. No. 99-129, § 217(e) (1985), 42 U.S.C. § 295g-8(f); recodified by
Pub. L. No. 99-660, § 601(a) (1986), as 42 U.S.C. § 295g-8(g); repealed by Pub. L. No.
100-607, § 613(a) (1988).

39 H.R. REP. No. 103-711, 103d Cong., 2d Sess. (1994); reprinted in 140 Cong. Rec. H
8877 (daily ed. Aug. 21, 1994).

40 I&
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SHIPPING CODE, 46 U.S.C. §§ 3901-3902

This statute authorizes the Secretary of Agriculture to "prescribe
regulations governing accommodations on board vessels for cattle, hor-
ses, mules, asses, sheep, goats, and swine to be carried from the
United States to a foreign country. The regulations shall prescribe
standards for space, ventilation, fittings, food and water supply, and
other requirements the Secretary of Agriculture considers necessary
for the safe and proper transportation and humane treatment of those
animals."

SnKEs ACT, 16 U.S.C. §§ 670a-670o

This statute authorizes the Secretary of Defense
to carry out a program of planning for, and the development, maintenance
and coordination of, wildlife, fish, and game conservation and rehabilita-
tion in each military reservation in accordance with a cooperative plan mu-
tually agreed upon by the Secretary of Defense, the Secretary of Interior,
and the appropriate State agency designated by the State in which the res-
ervation is located.

SOUTH PACIFIC TUNA ACT OF 1988, 16 U.S.C. §§ 973-973r

This statute implements the Treaty on Fisheries Between the
Governments of Certain Pacific Island States and the Government of
the United States, signed April 2, 1987.

TUNA CONVENTIONS ACT OF 1950, 16 U.S.C. §§ 951-961

This statute prohibits fishing in violation of any regulation
adopted by the Secretary of Commerce pursuant to the Convention for
the Establishment of an Inter-American Tropical Tuna Commission,
and prohibits commerce in fish taken in violation of such regulations.

TWENTY-EIGHT HouR LAW, 49 U.S.C. § 80502

This statute was enacted in 1906 and repealed and reenacted in
amended form in 1994 by Public Law No. 103-272. 4 1 It is also known
as the "Cruelty to Animals Act," the "Live Stock Transportation Act,"
and the "Food and Rest Law." As amended in 1994, it provides that "a
rail carrier, express carrier, or common carrier (except by air or water),
a receiver, trustee, or lessee of one of those carriers, or an owner or
master of a vessel transporting animals" across state lines, "may not
confine animals in a vehicle or vessel for more than 28 consecutive
hours without unloading the animals for feeding, water, and rest."

It also provides that "[alnimals being transported shall be un-
loaded in a humane way into pens equipped for feeding, water, and
rest for at least 5 consecutive hours." The statute "does not apply when

41 It was previously codified at 45 U.S.C. §§ 71-74.
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animals are transported in a vehicle or vessel in which the animals
have food, water, space, and an opportunity for rest."

The 28-hour period is subject to the following exceptions:

Sheep may be confined for an additional 8 consecutive hours without being
unloaded when the 28-hour period of confinement ends at night. Animals
may be confined for: (A) more than 28 hours when the animals cannot be
unloaded because of accidental or unavoidable causes that could not have
been anticipated or avoided when being careful; and (B) 36 consecutive
hours when the owner or person having custody of animals being trans-
ported requests, in writing and separate from a bill of lading or other rail
form, that the 28-hour period be extended to 36 hours.

Upon learning of a violation of this statute, "the Attorney General
shall bring a civil action" to collect a penalty of at least $100 but not
more than $500 for each violation.

WHALE CONSERVATION AND PROTECTION STUDY ACT, 16 U.S.C.
§§ 917-917d

This statute directs the Secretary of Commerce to "undertake
comprehensive studies of all whales found in waters subject to the ju-
risdiction of the United States."

WHALING CONVENTION ACT OF 1949, 16 U.S.C. §§ 916-9161

This statute prohibits whaling and commerce in whale products in
violation of the International Whaling Convention for the Regulation
of Whaling or in violation of any regulation of the International Whal-
ing Commission or the Secretary of Commerce.

WILD BIRD CONSERVATION ACT OF 1992, 16 U.S.C. §§ 4901-4916

The purpose of this act is to promote the conservation of exotic
birds by assisting wild bird conservation and management programs
in the countries of origin of wild birds, and limiting the importation of
exotic birds.

WILD FREE-ROAMING HORSES AND BuRRos ACT, 16 U.S.C.
§§ 1331-1340

This statute makes it a crime, with respect to any wild free-roam-
ing horse or burro, to: (1) remove it from the public lands without au-
thority from the Secretary of the Interior or Agriculture (depending on
the public land), (2) convert it to private use, without authority from
the Secretary, (3) maliciously cause its death or harassment, (4) pro-
cess its remains into commercial products, or (5) sell it if it is main-
tained on private or leased land.
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